FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/16/2020 3:49 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98277-5 (COA No. 80095-7-I)

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

James Robinson; Scott Smith; Michael Mattingly, Petitioners below,

SCOTT SMITH,

Petitioner,

v.

AMERICAN LEGION DEPARTMENT OF WASHINGTON, INC. and WAYNE ELSTON, COMMANDER,

Respondents.

On appeal from Thurston County Superior Court

SCOTT SMITH'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

JoAnne G. Comins Rick, WSBA #11589

HALSTEAD & COMINS RICK P.S. P.O. BOX 511 Prosser, WA 99350 (509) 786-2200 Attorneys for Appellant Scott Smith Gregory M. Miller, WSBA #14459

I. INTRODUCTION

In 1899 this Court adopted the majority rule requiring corporations to permit inspection of their records for shareholders as a significant right of ownership. *State ex rel. Weinberg v. Pacific Brewing and Malting Company*, 21 Wash. 451, 58 P. 584 (1899). In 1989 the legislature passed the Business Corporation Act containing RCW 23B.16.040(3). The statute added teeth to this common law right to inspect corporate records by mandating an award of fees to shareholders required to get access by court order:

"(3) If the court orders inspection and copying of the records demanded, it <u>shall</u> also order the corporation to pay the shareholder's costs, including reasonable counsel fees, incurred to obtain the order..." (emphasis added).

The statute continues with a "good faith" defense for the corporate managers, allowing them a limited opportunity to avoid the mandatory payment of the shareholder's fees, but *not*

"...unless **the corporation <u>proves</u>** that it refused inspection in good faith because it had a reasonable basis for doubt about the right of the shareholder to inspect the records demanded." (emphasis added).

However, the statute does <u>not</u> say: "The corporation shall not be ordered to pay the shareholder's costs, including reasonable counsel fees... <u>unless the shareholder proves</u> it requested in good faith to inspect the records" – yet this is precisely what the Decision below held. The Decision flips the burden of proof, undercutting shareholders' long-standing right to inspect corporate records and upsetting the balance crafted by the Court and the Legislature.

This case is the first opportunity for this Court to construe and apply the "good faith" and "reasonable basis for doubt" exception to the mandatory fee provision of RCW 23B.16.040. It needs to take review because the Court of Appeals Decision changes the nature of shareholder inspection rights, contrary to this Court's cases beginning with *Pacific Brewing*, and contrary to the Legislature's intent in passing RCW 23B.16.040(3) as an enforcement mechanism for shareholders and a deterrent to the corporation, which can only be escaped if the corporate operators satisfy a high burden of proof.

Here, Petitioner Scott Smith and his co-petitioners below,
Robinson and Mattingly, sought access to the Department ALWA's
corporate records to which they each were entitled under both the
statute and *Pacific Brewing*. Only Mr. Smith formally retained
counsel and it was through Mr. Smith's counsel's efforts that he and
his co-petitioners ultimately got full access to the ALWA's financial
records. The Court of Appeals Decision unfortunately:

- 1) Misunderstood the premise of both the statute and its underlying common law, which informs the statute and its provision for fees a "stick" to encourage disclosure of corporate financial records to shareholders like Smith;
- 2) Failed to give effect to the trial court's unchallenged findings of fact, *i.e.*, the finding ALWA is a 23B corp., not a 24.20 corp. as the Decision states; and, as a result,
- 3) Flipped the underlying presumption of both the common law and the statute in favor of shareholders seeking disclosure by viewing the case from the perspective of the corporate managers and operators to give them the benefit of the doubt and deny fees.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner Scott Smith, appellant below, asks the Court to grant review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review, published at 11 Wn.App.2d 274, 452 P.3d 1254 (2019 ("Decision"). References are to the slip opinion in the Appendix at pages A-1 to A-27. Reconsideration was denied on February 13, 2020. App. A-28. References to the Decision are to the slip opinion.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4) because the Decision conflicts with the corporate accountability policy stated in *State ex rel. Weinberg v. Pacific Brewing and Malting Company* and fails to give effect to the statutory scheme embodied in RCW 23B.16.040(3) providing for fees to successful requestors that gives meaningful effect to the *Pacific Brewing* decision.
- 2. Review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(1) and/or (4), so this Court can definitively construe RCW 23B.16.040(3)'s mandatory fee provision and determine whether its "reasonable basis for doubt" exemption is viewed subjectively from the perspective of the corporate operators whose refusal to grant shareholder access to corporate financial records required the shareholder to obtain it by court order, or is viewed objectively and with the goal of encouraging disclosure to shareholders?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Scott Smith and his co-petitioners below, Robinson and Mattingly, sought access to the Department's corporate records to which they each were entitled under both the statute and *Pacific*

mismanagement and embezzlement, which have since been borne out. Only Mr. Smith retained counsel, and it was through Mr. Smith's counsel's efforts that he and his co-petitioners ultimately got full access to the Department's financial records after strong resistance by the Respondent, ALWA, at the extensive hearing in October 2017 and entry of the trial court's order on December 15, 2017. CP 386-390, App. A-29 to A-33 hereto. That order was not challenged by Respondent ALWA as it did not cross-appeal.

As discussed in the reconsideration briefing at the Court of Appeals, however (*see* App. A-37-39, 41-46), the Court of Appeals adopted ALWA's contention that it had prevailed in 2017, and the burden was on Smith to show he complied with the statute in order to qualify for fees. Thus, it accepted ALWA's continued argument, which it had lost per the trial court's unchallenged December 15 Order, that it was *not* really a 23B Corp., and therefore was excused from opening its full corporate financial records to Smith and other members who were concerned about the ongoing embezzlement of hundreds of thousands of dollarsS.

The Court of Appeals mistakenly accepted this "confusion defense," that ALWA it was confused about its own corporate status: how was its operators to know what sort of corporate entity it was? That, ALWA argued, was good enough to excuse it from the long-

standing corporate disclosure obligations dating to the 1800's, bedrock law in this state.

The trial court denied Smith's fees request without making any findings, but implicitly accepting ALWA's argument that it was Smith's burden to establish his right to fees, contrary to the statute. The Court of Appeals affirmed and published the Decision, that mistaken flipping the burden of proof of the parties. It also flipped the underlying statutory presumptions in favor of the requesting shareholder who got a court order for disclosure. The statute presumes the shareholder: 1) proceeded in good faith; and 2) is entitled to recover his fees "unless" the corporate operators could meet the statutory burden of a reasonable basis for doubt about the right to the records.

Instead of viewing the facts and law objectively, or from the perspective of the shareholders like Petitioner Smith who had to fight and claw with help from counsel to get the disclosure of corporate finances to which he was entitled; and instead of requiring the corporate operators to pay Smith's fees that he was required to expend to get disclosure; the Court of Appeals Decision ignored the unchallenged findings of fact to give the benefit of the doubt to the corporate managers and deny Smith his fees.

In short, the Decision failed to act on the predicate for the fee statute which was the trial court ruling requiring disclosure. Under the plain terms of the statute, the burden then is on the corporate operators to show good faith due to a reasonable doubt about the shareholder's request. But the Court of Appeals decision, like the trial court, did not follow the statutory script. It placed the burden on Smith to establish that he had properly requested the documents – which he already had done in order to get the December 15 Order.

Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals thus misapplied the statute's presumptions and burdens. As discussed *infra*, understanding the history of required corporate disclosure to shareholders dating to *Pacific Brewing* reinforces why this was a mistake and the statute was misapplied.

The Decision also faulted Smith by asserting, incorrectly, there is no evidence showing what records he requested and were denied by the ALWA managers, so therefore the fee statute doesn't apply, or that he was late in requesting them. This analysis is not in the "Statutory Interpretation" discussion but is at page 17 and footnote 5. App. A-17. In fact, based on the October hearing, the December 15 Order found that Smith and his fellow Petitioners:

- [1] Were members in good standing;
- [2] Made proper requests to inspect records for purposes of investigating corporate management of the affairs and finances of the Department;
- [3] Which records were denied by the Department; and
- [4] After the petition was filed, the Department produced copies of some records, but denied inspection of other records, including records related to employee wages, salaries and benefits.

See CP 388 ¶ 9, App. A-31 hereto.

The December 15 Order and these findings were not appealed by ALWA. They are verities on appeal, as are the trial court's findings as to ALWA's status as a 23B Corp. But as described in Smith's reconsideration motion below, they were not given proper effect by the Decision, which results in an incorrect interpretation and application of the disclosure and fee statute. Since this is the only Washington appellate case addressing these issues, review should be granted to insure correct application of the statute to future cases, and to guide corporate officers in responding to future requests.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. Review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4) to definitively construe the mandatory fee provision of RCW 23B.16.040(3) in the full context of the underlying common law and statutory law, all of which is designed to allow and encourage disclosure of corporate financial records to shareholders.

The policy of shareholder disclosure was established no later than 1899 and enhanced with the statutory fee provision. This Court has never addressed the proper test for when fees must be awarded under the mandatory terms of the statute. Nor has this Court addressed whether the statute can be applied from the perspective of the corporate operators and managers who the shareholder seeks to hold accountable, or objectively, or rather, as its text requires, from the subjective perspective of the shareholder holding the right of disclosure.

This Court stated the core concern of corporate disclosure in *Pacific Brewing* which, despite the Court of Appeals dismissive treatment of it as an old, pre-statute case that does not address fees, in fact is highly relevant as noted *infra*. That concern is:

"....no more frequent or more aggravated species of outrage exists than the refusal of those in possession of the corporate books to disclose to the stockholders the written evidences of their stewardship; and in many cases nothing short of severe pecuniary forfeitures, followed by imprisonment as for crime, will afford an adequate protection to minority stockholders..."

Pacific Brewing, 21 Wash. at 463.

This is the principle that still underlies and animates the corporate disclosure statute and the fee provision in RCW 23B.16.040(3). The Court of Appeals Decision's construction and application of the statute is contrary to its text and to these underlying principles. Review should be granted to insure that the statute is properly and authoritatively construed to give continuing vitality to these principles.

B. Review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(1) and/or (4) because the Court of Appeals Decision is fundamentally inconsistent with this Court's decision in *State ex rel*. Weinberg v. Pacific Brewing and Malting Company and later decisions which affirm the primacy of shareholder access to corporate financial records.

The Court of Appeals Decision distinguished older cases because the statute was passed later and so, apparently, the appellate court believed earlier cases no longer had any relevance, nor could they inform the statutory program adopted after those decisions.

That is incorrect and misunderstands how the common law actually operates – as a continuing source of underlying principles that animate the later-adopted statutes.

This Court stated the basic principle in 1940 which is still apt today but, unfortunately, was overlooked by the Court of Appeals decision despite being cited in Smith's reply brief at page 19. The Court's complete statement is:

But even if the statute has been repealed, the common law right of a stockholder to examine the books and records of the corporation at proper times and for proper purposes remains. State ex rel. Weinberg v. Pacific Brewing & Malting Co., 21 Wash. 451, 58 P. 584, 47 L.R.A. 208 [1899]; Guthrie v. Harkness, 199 U.S. 148, 26 S.Ct. 4, 50 L.Ed. 130, 4 Ann.Cas. 433 [1905]. And, under the common law rule, as it prevails in most states, and under statutes similar to the Arizona, statute, the burden of showing improper motives on the part of the shareholder in demanding an inspection of the books and records of the corporation is upon the defendant. It is presumed, until the contary is shown, that the shareholder seeks the information for a proper purpose. Ontjes v. Harrer, 208 Iowa 1217, 227 N.W. 101 [1929]; Becker v. LeMars Loan & Trust Co., 217 Iowa 17, 250 N.W. 644 [1933]; Knox v. Coburn, 117 Me. 409, 104 A. 789 [1918]; Dines v. Harris, 88 Colo. 22, 291 P. 1024 [1930]; William Coale Development Co. v. Kennedy, 121 Ohio St. 582, 170 N.E. 434 [1930]. This is the rule that prevails in this state. State ex rel. Weinberg v. Pacific Brewing & Malting Co., 21 Wash. 451, 58 P. 584, 47 L.R.A. 208; State ex rel. Lee v, Goldsmith Dredging Co., 150 Wash. 366, 273 P. 196. [1928]

State ex rel. Grismer v. Merger Mines Corp., 3 Wn.2d 417, 420-42, 101 P.2d 308 (1940). Accord, State v. Guarantee Mfg. Co., 103 Wash. 151, 157, 174 P. 459, 461 (1918) ("So the rule in this state is that, to the extent of rights given by statute or the by-laws of a corporation, the right of a stockholder to inspect the books, records, and documents of the corporation may not be abridged or denied, except in protection of necessary trade secrets, or to combat some evil purpose, alleged and proved, such as the theft or destruction of records, or similar improper purpose.").

Not only does the *Grismer* decision show the important interrelationship between the underlying common law and later statutes, it reinforces a second error made by the Decision – essentially flipping the burden to the shareholder Smith to establish that ALWA has no good faith defense. Again, that is wrong – the burden is, and must remain on the corporate operators and managers to show that they had good and proper reasons for stone-walling the shareholder's request for financial records.

As noted at the outset, this Court invoked the settled common law in 1899 to require corporate disclosure to shareholders. As *Grismer* explains, that holding and purpose still underlie and animate the later statutes and case decisions, making it appropriate to revisit the origins in *Pacific Brewing*. In 1899 our Supreme Court affirmed the right of a certain Ms. Weinberg, a stockholder, to have access to the books of the Pacific Brewing Company over its

strenuous objections, invoking the common law as developed in England and in this country. *State Ex Rel. Weinberg v. Pacific Brewing & Malting Co., et al.*, 21 Wash. 451, 58 P. 584 (1899). The decision noted at 21 Wash., 457-458 that:

The stockholders of a corporation have at common law, for a proper purpose, and at seasonable times, a right to inspect any and all books and records of the corporation... But ... the courts disagree as to what is a proper purpose or, rather, as to what facts are sufficient to warrant the court in directing by mandamus permission to inspect, where the stockholder has been refused such by the officers of the corporation.

The Court noted that the many statutes adopted in this country guaranteeing the right of inspection "seem to be generally held not to be innovations in, but declaratory of the common law." 21 Wash, at 460.

This Court then confirmed that rule for Washington State by its decision, explaining:

Corporations, owing to the ease with which they can be formed under the liberal provisions of the statute, and affording, as they do, a limited liability for investors, have become a favorite means for the combination of capital, and are now engaged in almost every variety and character of business. In fact, they have largely superseded partnerships. Not having behind them the personal responsibility and fortunes of the promoters, or that of those who may have invested in their capital stock, the interests of the public at large require, and especially that part of the public dealing with them, that the courts adopt the rule which will most largely conduce to honesty in their management. We believe that these interests will be better protected by the holding that

a stockholder of a corporation has the right, at reasonable times, to inspect and examine the books and records of such corporation so long as his purpose is to inform himself as to the manner and fidelity with which the corporate affairs are being conducted and his examination is made in the interests of the corporation. Nor will it be presumed, when such request is made, that the purpose of the inspection is other than in the interest of the corporation, and, when it is charged to be otherwise, the burden should be on the officers refusing such request or the corporation to establish it.

Pacific Brewing, 21 Wash. at 463-464 (emphasis added). The later statutory elements are all there: the shareholder's right to inspect; the *presumption* that the shareholder's request is in the corporate interest to learn of "the manner and fidelity with which the corporate affairs are being conducted;" and placing the burden of showing the propriety in refusing requests on the corporation. All these elements are to serve the underlying purpose of conducing "honesty in [corporate] management." *See* Smith's Reconsideration Motion, pp. 12-15 App. A-48-51 hereto.

Review should be granted so the correct application of the corporate disclosure laws, both common law and per RCW 23B.16.040(3), are made plain for the Bench, Bar, and Public, with a clear statement of the burdens placed on the corporate operators and managers when faced with shareholder requests, and reinforcing the long-held public policy that disclosure should be granted freely; but

where it is not and court action is required, then the corporation will have to pay the fees for the requesting shareholder.

VI. CONCLUSION

Petitioner Scott Smith asks this Court to grant review and schedule it for argument at the earliest opportunity.