# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/9/2020 3:41 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98277-5

(COA No. 80095-7-I)

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

James Robinson, Scott Smith, and Michael Mattingly, Petitioners below,

SCOTT SMITH,

Petitioner,

v.

AMERICAN LEGION DEPARTMENT OF WASHINGTON, INC. and WAYNE ELSTON, COMMANDER,

Respondents.

On Appeal from Thurston County Superior Court (Cause No. 17-2-03285-34)

# RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO SCOTT SMITH'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Trevor A. Zandell, WSBA # 37210 Of Attorneys for Respondents

Phillips Burgess PLLC 724 Columbia Street NW, Ste. 320 Olympia, WA 98501 (360) 742-3500

# **

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Respondent THE AMERICAN LEGION DEPARTMENT OF WASHINGTON, INC. ("ALWA") hereby makes its answer to the Appellant SCOTT SMITH's ("Mr. Smith") petition ("Petition") asking this Court to grant review of the court of appeals' Published Opinion in this action filed on November 25, 2019 ("Opinion"). Review should not be granted because the Opinion does not conflict with any decision of this Court and, although the issue at hand may be one of substantial public interest, this Court need not decide it at this time because the Opinion correctly interpreted and applied the applicable statute.

#### II. LEGAL AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT

# A. The Court Should Disregard Mr. Smith's Unsupported Claims Regarding Alleged Financial Mismanagement and Embezzlement.

In a desperate attempt to get this Court to accept review of this case, Mr. Smith claimed in his Motion that "Petitioner Scott Smith and his co-petitioners below, Robinson and Mattingly, sought access to [ALWA's] corporate records...because of long-standing concerns of financial mismanagement and embezzlement." (Petition at 3-4.) Mr. Smith went onto claim that he was "concerned about the ongoing embezzlement of hundreds of thousands of dollars." (Petition at 4.) Neither of these claims were supported by any citation to the record in violation of RAP

13.4(c)(6). This is clearly an attempt by Mr. Smith to prejudice the Court against ALWA by injecting unsubstantiated and inflammatory allegations against ALWA. We urge the Court not to consider these claims for which there is no evidence in the record.

## B. The Opinion Does Not Conflict With Any Decision of This Court.

In his Petition, Mr. Smith claimed that the Opinion is fundamentally inconsistent with this Court's holdings in State ex rel. Weinberg v. Pacific Brewing & Malting Co., 21 Wash. 451, 58 P. 584 (1899), State ex rel. Grismer v. Merger Mines Corp., 3 Wn.2d 417, 101 P.2d 308 (1940), and State ex rel. Beaty v. Guarantee Manufacturing Co., 103 Wash. 151, 174 P. 459 (1918). (Petition at 8-10.) All of those cases predated the adoption of the Washington Business Corporations Act ("WBCA"), Title 23B RCW, along with its attorney fee provision, RCW 23B.16.040(3), in 1989. While those cases confirmed a shareholder's right to inspect corporate records, they are irrelevant to the issue at hand because they did not create an independent basis for attorneys' fees.

Mr. Smith argued that <u>Grismer</u> stands for the proposition that the Court's holding in <u>Weinberg</u> still underlies and animates later statutes, such as the WBCA. (Petition at 10.) What <u>Grismer</u> directly says is, "It is the generally accepted rule that statutes...do not abridge, restrict, or repeal, bu [sic] enlarge, extend, and supplement, the common law rule."

<u>Grismer</u>, 3 Wn.2d at 422. Indeed, the WBCA enlarged, extended, and supplemented a shareholder's common law right of inspection by giving courts the authority to award attorneys' fees in certain circumstances. But since <u>Weinberg</u>, <u>Grismer</u>, and <u>Beaty</u> were all decided before such a possibility for attorneys' fees existed, they are not controlling authority on the application of RCW 23B.16.040(3).

In Washington, a litigant is only entitled to an award of attorneys' fees in certain, limited situations:

Washington follows the American rule in awarding attorney fees. Under that rule, a court has no power to award attorney fees as a cost of litigation in the absence of contract, statute, or recognized ground of equity providing for fee recovery.

Dayton v. Farmers Ins. Grp., 124 Wn.2d 277, 280, 876 P.2d 896, 897–98 (1994) (internal citation omitted). There is no contract involved in this case. And critically, the pre-WBCA caselaw cited by Mr. Smith did not create or recognize any ground of equity which might entitle a shareholder to an award of attorneys' fees if he or she demanded to inspect records and was wrongfully refused. Therefore, the only basis on which Mr. Smith might be entitled to an award of attorneys' fees is under the WBCA.

The Opinion does not conflict with <u>Weinberg</u>, <u>Grismer</u>, <u>Beaty</u>, or any other decision of this Court because the Opinion applied RCW 23B.16.040(3), whereas <u>Weinberg</u>, <u>Grismer</u>, <u>Beaty</u>, pre-dating the WBCA,

do not even address the same. The <u>Weinberg</u> case was about whether a shareholder needed to make an accusation of mismanagement or malfeasance in order to inspect the books of the corporation. <u>Weinberg</u>, 21 Wash. at 458 (court held no such accusation need be made). The <u>Grismer</u> and <u>Beaty</u> cases were about whether shareholders had improper motives in seeking to inspect corporate records. <u>Beaty</u>, 103 Wash. at 157-58 (owner of rival firm acquired small number of shares in corporation for purpose of acquiring corporation's trade secrets); <u>Grismer</u>, 3 Wn.2d at 422 (corporation failed to prove that shareholder's purpose in requesting to insect corporate records was to harass, stir up strife, and bring about change in management).

This case is not about Mr. Smith's motives in requesting to inspect ALWA's corporate records. Rather, this case is about whether ALWA met its burden of proof to avoid an award of attorneys' fees under RCW 23B.16.040(3). Since Weinberg, Grismer, and Beaty did not touch on this issue, the Opinion does not conflict with those or any other decision of this Court, and accordingly, there is no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

C. The Issue of Shareholder Entitlement to Attorneys' Fees Under the WBCA May Be One of Substantial Public Interest But This Court Need Not Review the Opinion Because It Correctly Interpreted and Applied the Statute.

The only other ground for review argued by Mr. Smith is RAP

13.4(b)(4). (Petition at 7.) For review to be accepted under that rule, this Court must find the issue of shareholders' entitlement to attorneys' fees under the WBCA is one of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. ALWA concedes this may be an issue of substantial public interest. The Opinion should not be reviewed in order to decide the issue, however, because the Opinion correctly interpreted and applied RCW 23B.16.040(3).

If this were an appeal over access to corporate records, Mr. Smith may have a point that <u>Weinberg</u>, <u>Grismer</u>, and <u>Beaty</u> recognize a shareholder's right to inspect a broad array of corporate records, so long as done for a proper purpose. But this is not a dispute over access to corporate records. Rather this is merely a case about whether a shareholder is entitled to an award of attorneys' fees under the WBCA. As detailed below, Mr. Smith is not entitled to an award of attorneys' fees in this case.

1. Mr. Smith Did Not Request to Inspect Any Records That He Was Legally Entitled to Inspect and Which ALWA Refused Inspection Prior to Mr. Smith Filing Suit. This Precludes an Award of Attorneys' Fees Under the WBCA.

Mr. Smith is not entitled to an award of attorneys' fees under RCW 23B.16.040(3) because he did not request to inspect records to which he was legally entitled and have ALWA refuse his inspection before he filed

suit. These statutory prerequisites to an award of attorneys' fees were not met, and therefore the Petition should be denied.

a. For a Shareholder to Be Entitled to Attorneys' Fees Under the WBCA, the Shareholder Must Make Demand on the Corporation to Inspect Records and Allow the Corporation an Opportunity to Respond Before Filing Suit.

In the Petition, Mr. Smith claimed the statute "states no specific time-frame for requesting documents (such as before starting litigation)". (Petition at 11-12.) This is not accurate. If Mr. Smith's claim were true, a shareholder would be within his or her rights to initiate litigation and be awarded attorneys' fees even before the shareholder asked the corporation to inspect records. The WBCA does not allow for this. An award of attorneys' fees may not be granted if the statutory procedures were not observed, and those procedures were not observed in this case.

The WBCA sets forth a detailed procedure for inspecting corporate records. First, the statute sets forth two different classes of records that shareholders are entitled to inspect. *See*, RCW 23B.16.010. Some of those records must be maintained at the corporation's principal office, and so that class of records shall be referred to as "Principal Office Records". RCW 23B.16.010(5). There is no requirement as to where the other corporate records must be kept, and so that class of records shall be referred to as "Other Corporate Records". RCW 23B.16.020(2). The fact

that the WBCA lists categories of records that shareholders are entitled to inspect implies that, at least under the WBCA, shareholders are not necessarily entitled to inspect *all* records a corporation may maintain.

Next, the statute sets forth separate procedures for shareholders to demand inspection of Principal Office Records and Other Corporate Records. RCW 23B.16.020(1-3). For Principal Office Records, the procedure is straightforward: the shareholder need only give the corporation five-days' notice. RCW 23B.16.020(1). For Other Corporate Records, the shareholder must give notice of the records he or she is demanding to inspect at least five-days in advance, and meet the following three-part test: "(a) The shareholder's demand is made in good faith and for a proper purpose; (b) The shareholder describes with reasonable particularity the shareholder's purpose and the records the shareholder desires to inspect; and (c) The records are directly connected with the shareholder's purpose." RCW 23B.16.020(3). In both cases, the shareholder is required to provide the corporation with a demand to inspect records identified in the statute, and then give the corporation at least five days to allow the inspection.

From there, the statute sets forth judicial remedies if the corporation wrongfully refuses to allow an inspection. For demands to inspect Principal Office Records, the following relief is available:

#### 23B.16.040. Court-ordered inspection

(1) If a corporation does not allow a shareholder who complies with RCW 23B.16.020(1) to inspect and copy any records required by that subsection to be available for inspection, the superior court of the county where the corporation's principal office, or, if none in this state, its registered office, is located may summarily order inspection and copying of the records demanded at the corporation's expense upon application of the shareholder.

RCW 23B.16.040(1) (emphasis added). For demands to inspect Other Corporate Records, the following relief is available:

#### 23B.16.040. Court-ordered inspection

. . .

(2) If a corporation does not within a reasonable time allow a shareholder to inspect and copy any other record, the shareholder who complies with RCW 23B.16.020 (2) and (3) may apply to the superior court of the county where the corporation's principal office, or, if none in this state, its registered office, is located for an order to permit inspection and copying of the records demanded. The court shall dispose of an application under this subsection on an expedited basis.

RCW 23B.16.040(2) (emphasis added). In both instances, the statute makes it clear that the shareholder must comply with RCW 23B.16.020 (demand to the corporation, followed by an opportunity for the corporation to allow inspection) before the shareholder is entitled to avail him or herself of the statutory remedies. The pre-litigation notice and opportunity provisions are included to allow the corporation an opportunity to permit the records inspection before any lawsuit is filed, as in many cases the shareholder's demand will not be controversial.

b. For a Shareholder to Be Entitled to Attorneys' Fees Under the WBCA, a Court Must Order a Corporation to Allow Inspection of Records That Were Demanded Before Litigation Was Commenced.

Even if a shareholder observes the required pre-litigation procedures, is denied an inspection, and files suit, he or she is still not necessarily entitled to attorneys' fees. For there to be an entitlement to attorneys' fees under the WBCA, the court must order the corporation to allow inspection of the records that were demanded and denied. *See*, RCW 23B.16.040(3). RCW 23B.16.040(3) provides as follows:

#### 23B.16.040. Court-ordered inspection

. . .

(3) If the court orders inspection and copying of the records demanded, it shall also order the corporation to pay the shareholder's costs, including reasonable counsel fees, incurred to obtain the order unless the corporation proves that it refused inspection in good faith because it had a reasonable basis for doubt about the right of the shareholder to inspect the records demanded.

RCW 23B.16.040(3) (emphases added). This section makes it clear that the shareholder must demand to inspect certain records, be denied before filing suit, and then have the court order inspection of those certain records in order to be entitled to an award of attorneys' fees.

In this case, prior to filing this lawsuit, Mr. Smith requested and was provided with multiple categories of corporate records including the 2016 midwinter budget, 2015 and 2016 profit and loss statements, 2015

and 2016 balance sheets, and the IRS Form 990 for 2016. (Opinion at 17; CP 17, 144-45, 508, 597.) In addition to those records, before he sued Mr. Smith specifically requested (a) a 2013 audit report, (b) records from a 2011 lawsuit, and (c) a Form 990 for Evergreen Veterans Post 110 The American Legion ("Post 110"). (CP 96, 107.) For the audit report, Mr. Smith was referred to an ALWA member who had a copy. (CP 107.) Mr. Smith never raised the issue of the audit report with the trial court, and so presumably he obtained a copy of the same from the member to whom he was referred. Regarding the 2011 lawsuit records and Form 990 for Post 110, ALWA took the position, and the trial court agreed, that Mr. Smith was not entitled to inspect and copy those records under the WBCA. (CP 389.) Mr. Smith has not challenged those conclusions of law on appeal.

Roughly three weeks *after* he filed suit, Mr. Smith delivered to ALWA's attorney a lengthy list of records he wished to inspect ("Smith Records Request"), and ALWA immediately began producing records in response to that request. (CP 536-37, 549-50, 597-98.) However, Mr. Smith failed to follow the procedures under RCW 23B.16.020. He did not demand to inspect any particular records, have his demand rejected before he filed suit, and then have the trial court order ALWA to permit inspection of those records. The records the trial court ordered ALWA to provide to Mr. Smith were demanded *after* this action was commenced.

Accordingly, Mr. Smith is not entitled to attorneys' fees under RCW 23B.16.040(3) and there is no need for this Court to examine whether there was substantial evidence to support the trial court's conclusion that ALWA met its burden to avoid an award of attorneys' fees.

In his Petition, Mr. Smith claims that the court of appeals ignored one of the trial court's unchallenged findings of fact that Mr. Smith and his fellow Petitioners below, "[2] Made proper requests to inspect records for purposes of investigating corporate management of the affairs and finances of [ALWA]; [3] Which records were denied by [ALWA]." (Petition at 6; CP 388, ¶ 9.) Note, however, that the trial court's finding did not specify which records were demanded, who demanded them, or when they were demanded. Without factual findings that Mr. Smith personally demanded to inspect particular records, and that his demand was denied before he filed suit, coupled with the trial court ultimately ordering ALWA to permit inspection of those particular records, no award of attorneys' fees is possible under RCW 23B.16.040(3). The record shows that the only records Mr. Smith was not permitted to inspect, and which ALWA was ultimately ordered to permit him to inspect, were requested after this litigation was commenced. Accordingly, the Opinion does not overlook the trial court's unchallenged finding of fact, but rather is consistent with the trial court's findings.

2. Substantial Evidence Supports the Trial Court's Ruling that ALWA Denied Inspection of Limited Records In Good Faith Because It Had a Reasonable Basis for Doubt About the Right of Mr. Smith to Inspect Those Records.

If Mr. Smith made pre-suit demand to inspect specific records, was denied, then sued and had the trial court order ALWA to permit inspection of those records (which did not happen), ALWA could still avoid an award of attorneys' fees under RCW 23B.16.040(3) if it proved that it refused inspection in good faith because it had a reasonable basis for doubt about the right of Mr. Smith to inspect the records demanded. The trial court found that ALWA met its burden of proof in that regard, and the court of appeals correctly ruled that substantial evidence supported the trial court's finding. Review should therefore be denied.

a. The Perspective of a Corporation Must Necessarily Be Considered In Determining Whether the Corporation Refused an Inspection In Good Faith Because It Had a Reasonable Basis for Doubt About the Right of a Shareholder To Inspect Records Demanded.

Mr. Smith argued in his Petition that the Opinion "mistakenly flipped the burden of proof of the parties" on the issue of attorneys' fees, and "placed the burden on [Mr.] Smith to establish that he had properly requested the documents". (Petition at 5, 6.) In fact, the court of appeals correctly applied the statute. Under RCW 23B.16.040(3) (quoted above), a court must first determine if a shareholder demanded an inspection of

records which, under RCW 23B.16.010, he or she was entitled to inspect, gave the corporation at least five days to respond, and was denied an inspection of those records. If those things are proven, from there RCW 23B.16.040(3) clearly shifts the inquiry to one about whether the corporation had a good faith and reasonable basis for doubt about the right of the shareholder to inspect the records demanded. This analysis necessarily is made from the perspective of the corporation.

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